ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COW TTEE
March 30, 2017
3:16 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Represent ati ve Jonat han Krei ss-Tonki ns, Chair
Representative Gabrielle LeDoux, Vice Chair
Representative Chris Tuck

Representati ve Adam Wol

Representative Chris Birch

Represent ati ve DeLena Johnson

Representative Gary Knopp

VEMBERS ABSENT

Representati ve Andy Josephson (alternate)
Representati ve Chuck Kopp (alternate)

COW TTEE CALENDAR

PRESENTATI ON: VOTE BY MAIL BY THE ANCHORAGE MUNI Cl PAL CLERK' S
OFFI CE

- HEARD

HOUSE Bl LL NO. 181

"An Act relating to per diem for legislators; relating to a
travel allowance for legislators and |egislative enployees; and
relating to the State Oficers Conpensation Conmm ssion."

- MOVED CSHB 181( STA) OUT OF COWM TTEE

HOUSE BI LL NO. 163

"An Act authorizing the Departnment of Public Safety to enter
into agreenments with nonprofit regional corporations and
federal, tribal, and |ocal governnment agencies to provide |aw
enforcenment services; authorizing the Departnent of Public
Safety to collect fees for certain |law enforcenent services; and
providing for an effective date."

- SCHEDULED BUT NOT HEARD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON

BILL: HB 181

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -1- March 30, 2017



SHORT TI TLE: LEG SLATURE PER DI EM AND TRAVEL ALLOWANCE
SPONSOR(s) : REPRESENTATI VE(s) KREI SS- TOWKI NS

03/ 16/ 17 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
03/ 16/ 17 (H STA, FIN

03/ 28/ 17 (H) STA AT 5:30 PM GRUENBERG 120
03/ 28/ 17 (H) Heard & Hel d

03/ 28/ 17 (H) M NUTE( STA)

03/ 30/ 17 (H) STA AT 3: 00 PM GRUENBERG 120

W TNESS REG STER

AMANDA MOSER, Deputy El ections O erk

Muni cipal Cerk's Ofice

Muni ci pality of Anchorage

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented on "Vote by Mail" with the use of
a handout provided to the commttee.

BARBARA JONES, Municipal derk

Municipal Cerk's Ofice

Muni ci pality of Anchorage

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Answered questions during the "Vote-By-
Mai | " presentation.

BERETT W LBER, Staff

Represent ati ve Jonat han Krei ss- Tonki ns

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions during the hearing on HB
181 on behal f of Representative Kreiss-Tonkins, prime sponsor.

JESSI CA GEARY, Fi nance Manager

Legi sl ative Adm nistrative Services(LAS)

Legi sl ative Affairs Agency(LAA)

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answered questions during the hearing on HB
181.

KATE SHEEHAN, Director

Di vi sion of Personnel and Labor Relations (DPLR)

Depart ment of Adm nistration (DOA)

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions during the hearing on HB
181.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 2- March 30, 2017



ACTI ON NARRATI VE
3:16: 10 PM

CHAIR JONATHAN KREI SS-TOWKINS called the House State Affairs
St andi ng Commttee nmeeti ng to or der at 3. 16 p. m
Representatives LeDoux, Tuck, Wol, Birch, Knopp, and Kreiss-
Tonkins were present at the call to order. Representative
Johnson arrived as the neeting was in progress.

PRESENTATI ON:  Vote by Mail by the Anchorage Municipal Cerk's
Ofice

3:17: 33 PM

CHAI R KREI SS- TOWI NS announced that the first order of business
would be a presentation: Vote by Ml by the Anchorage
Muni cipal Cerk's Ofice.

3:17: 52 PM

AVMANDA MOSER, Deputy Elections Cerk, Minicipal Cerk's Ofice,
Muni cipality of Anchorage, began the presentation entitled "Vote
by Mail." She relayed three concerns regarding Anchorage
el ections brought to her attention by Ernie Hall in 2014;, M.
Hall was the chair of the Anchorage Assenbly Ethics and El ection
Conmittee at the tine. The first ~concern was |ow voter
engagenent: on average, 20-25 percent of Anchorage's registered
voters participate in the election. Ms. Moser said that the
"high watermark™ in the last ten years occurred in 2012, with 35
percent voter turnout. The second concern was the inefficient
use of comunity resources: Anchorage has 122 polling |ocations
from Peter's Creek to Grdwood, all of which nust be supplied
with the materials and equipnment needed for voter processing.
She stated that the third concern is wth the recruitnent,

training, and retention of election officials: approxi mately
700-750 workers are required to process voters at the 122
polling locations in Anchorage. Each year it beconmes nore

challenging to find people to dedicate an entire day, from 6
a.m to 10 p.m, processing voters, as well as taking the tine
to be trained and fulfilling all the requirenments for being an
el ection official.

M5. MOSER relayed that faced with these three concerns, the
Clerk's Ofice explored alternative voting nmethods in Anchorage.
She stated that after researching simlar jurisdictions, staff
quickly settled on nethods wused in Oegon, Washington, and

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 3- March 30, 2017



Col or ado. She said that those three states are all "vote-by-
mail" states. She nentioned that these areas were |like
Anchorage in that they consisted of geographical diversity
enconpassing a |large area. She indicated that staff researched
the inpact of vote-by-mail on the jurisdictions that had
instituted it. They discovered that these jurisdictions
experienced on average significantly higher voter turnout and
nore efficient use of conmmunity resources through technol ogy.
M. Mser declared that fewer election officials are needed to
process a vote-by-mail jurisdiction conpared with a regular
polling place jurisdiction.

M5. MOSER said that the Minicipal Cerk's Ofice reported its
findings to M. Hall and the Ethics and El ection Commttee. She
stated that M. Hall and the commttee directed the Minicipa
Clerk's Ofice to organize a stakeholders group to engage
community nmenbers in a discussion on voter issues. She rel ayed
that in the sumrer of 2015, the Minicipal derk's Ofice
established a stakeholders group of 12 comunity nenbers
representing Anchorage's diverse population and having an
interest in the election process. She nentioned that the 12
menbers recommended others for the group; thus, the group
expanded to 52 nmenbers. She related that the stakehol ders group
nmet three tines through the sumer and fall of 2015; it explored
the vote-by-mail process and the inpacts it would have on
Anchorage. | n Decenber of 2015, the Anchorage Assenbly passed a
resol uti on unani nously supporting the continued exploration of a
vote-by-mail transition in Anchorage.

3:23: 08 PM

M5. MOSER continued by saying that by 2016, the Minici pal
Clerk's Ofice recognized that to inplenent this significant
transition, it would need assistance. She nentioned that wth
the support of the Anchorage Assenbly, the Minicipal Cerk's
Ofice hired Dennis Wueeler of Resource Data, Inc. (RDI) as a
proj ect manager. She added that M. Weeler had been the
muni ci pal attorney until 2015; he had worked closely with the
Municipal Cerk's Ofice on election issues and on the 2013
remwite of the Anchorage Minicipal Code as it relates to
el ecti ons. The Municipal Cerk's Ofice has been working with
M. Wheeler and RDI on the transition since February 2015. She
rel ayed that the Anchorage Assenbly formed an executive steering
commttee consisting of M. Hall, the current chair of the
Ethics and Elections Commttee, Elvi Gay-Jackson, and Vice-
Chair Dick Traini. She added that the Municipal Cerk's Ofice

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -4- March 30, 2017



is working closely with the Executive Steering Committee and
RDI .

M5. MOSER expl ai ned that three discreet pieces of equipnment and
materials were identified as needed for the transition to vote-
by-mai | . She said that MOA is soliciting bids through requests
for proposals (RFPs) for the follow ng: t he envel ope scanning
and signature verification conponent; the high-speed tabulation
equi pnent; and the mailing of ballot packages to all registered
voters. She added that all qualified registered voters in the
Anchorage jurisdiction will receive ballot packages three weeks
before election day. A voter will have the opportunity to study
the issues on the ballot with trusted resources and educationa

material to make confident choices. A voter will return the
ballot inside a secrecy sleeve inside a ballot return envel ope
with his/her signature on the outside of the ballot return
envel ope. She relayed that the voter has three options for
returning the ballot: through the U S nmail with a first-class
stanp; at one of 12 secure drop boxes placed by the Minicipa

Clerk's Ofice; and at any one of the accessible vote centers

She added that in addition to a ballot mail-out to all qualified
voters, there wll be assessible voting centers for voters
needi ng additional assistance, a new ballot, or the opportunity
to vote at a polling |ocation. There will be three or four of
these voting locations, which wll be available for voters
begi nni ng about one week before El ection Day.

3:27:14 PM

REPRESENTATI VE BI RCH nentioned ballots that are thrown out and
retrieved by other people who may be wusing those discarded
ballots to vote. He asked what control is used to maintain the
sanctity of the one person, one vote rule.

M5. MOSER answered that through the RFP process, MOA purchased a
conponent allowing for secure signature verification. She
nmenti oned that MOA purchased equipnment from Bell and Howell
Conmpany; each qualified registered voter receiving a ballot in
the mail will be asked to sign the outside of the envel op before
returning the ballot; and the returned envel opes will be scanned
using the Bell and Howell Signature Solution System She
expl ai ned that this equipnment takes a snapshot of the signature,
which goes to trained election officials verifying that

signature wth the signature on file. If there is any
di screpancy between the two signatures, it will go to a second
| ayer of review After the second review, if there are still
concerns, the voter wll be notified and wll have the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 5- March 30, 2017



opportunity to "share" it. She mentioned that the three vote-
by-mail states - Oegon, Wshington, and Colorado - use sone
| evel of signature verification. She said that Washington
trains its election officials with the Washington State Patrol
(WBP) troopers in signature verification. She relayed that |ast
mont h, the Anchorage Assenbly passed additional laws to fully
conplete the transition including elenents of the signature
verification.

3:30: 03 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP asked if [vote-by-mail] has been discussed
within the Alaska Minici pal League (AM) and if t hat
organi zati on has expressed any concerns.

3:30: 26 PM

BARBARA  JONES, Muni ci pal C erk, Muni ci pal Clerk's Ofice,
Municipality of Anchorage, stated that the Mnicipal derk's
Ofice staff communicate regularly wth AWML through a clerks'
advisory group of about ten nunicipal <clerks representing
various areas of the state. She said that MOA clerks have been
asked if they have identified any gaps or mstakes in the vote-
by-mai | process. She asserted that she has not received any
negative feedback from clerks in the AM advisory group. She
nmentioned that her office invited the clerks to visit MOA's new
el ection center |ast nonth. She added that sone of the clerks
participated in training with MA s vendor, Dom nion Voting
Systens. She nentioned that nmany of the other clerks are using
this vendor. She concluded that her staff is working with the
clerks' advisory group within AML but not with AM. directly;
however, she and her staff would be happy to do so.

REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP asked how |ong Col orado, Washington, and
Oregon have been utilizing vote-by-mail and what MOA is |earning
from any problens it may have experienced. He asked if any
| egislation would be needed at the state |evel [for vote-by-
mail], or if all decisions are at the |ocal |evel.

M5. JONES responded that to her know edge, no state |egislation
is necessary for Anchorage to utilize the vote-by-mail option.
She added that M. Wheeler, fornerly the nunicipal attorney, has
expl ored that question and indicated no | egislation is needed.

M5. MOSER, in answer to Representative Knopp's first question,

replied that Oregon has used vote-by mail since 2000; Washi ngton
has been transitioning to vote-by-mail county by county since

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 6- March 30, 2017



m d-2000 and was fully vote-by-mail for the 2012 election;
Col orado has nobst recently transitioned to vote-by-mail and used
that method conpletely for the 2014 election. She stated that
the Minicipal Cerk's Ofice has worked closely with various
jurisdictions wthin Wshington state - King County, Pierce
County, and Thurston County - and has built relationships with
Denver, Colorado, and Ml tnomah County, O egon. She nai nt ai ned
that these entities have shared their Dbest practices and
chal I enges; they have provided nentoring and coaching as the
Municipal Cerk's Ofice has explored the transition

3:34:40 PM

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL referred to poor | ocal el ection
participation and asked if there has been discussion regarding
hol ding | ocal elections and state and national elections on the
same day to increase local election participation and maxi m ze
resour ces.

M5. MOSER answered that MOA has explored this possibility and
one of the challenges is that the nunicipal election is very
conplicated with 42 different ballot styles and nultiple split
precincts with nultiple ballot styles at each precinct. She
stated that the challenge of having the election on the sane day
is due in part to MOA sharing the state's voting equipnent; the
muni ci pality would have to purchase separate equipnent if the
two elections are on the sane day. She nentioned that staff
explored this option when Representative Birch, then a nmenber of
t he assenbly, introduced |egislation to conbine the el ections.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL commented that his suggestion was due to | ow
voter participation during local elections and nuch greater
participation during the Novenber general elections, but he
added that he realizes that there are technical challenges to
conbi ne el ecti ons.

M5. MOSER replied that another conponent of the challenge of
having a conbined election is that nunicipalities have el ections
yearly and the state has elections every tw years. She
nmenti oned that would create an inpact on the "of f" years.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL suggested that the effect is |like the effect
that a presidential election has on voter participation in state
el ections.

3:37:53 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -7- March 30, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE BIRCH asserted that having one election day
creates better voter participation than nultiple days. He
rel ayed that Anchorage did schedule its elections to occur on
one day, but this did not continue.

3:38: 56 PM

CHAI R KREI SS-TOWKINS referred to vote-by-mail occurring in sone
precincts of the Kenai Peninsula Borough (KPB). He asked if
that is a nodel or tenplate for what Anchorage is doing and to
what extent it is occurring in Al aska.

M5. MOSER responded that KPB has six precincts that vote by
mai |l ; they are precincts that are (indisc.) and have been voting
by mail for the past five years. She relayed that her staff has
wor ked w th Johni [ Bl ankenshi p, Borough Cerk, KPB] and received
f eedback. Ms. Bl ankenship reported increased voter engagenent
at the vote-by-mail precincts.

3:40: 15 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP confirnmed that M. Blankenship is an
advocate for vote-by-mail, primarily because of the chall enge of
finding election wrkers and because of the expense of
el ections. He said that he believes the six vote-by-mail

precincts to be Seldovia, Port Graham English Bay [on the other
si de of Kachemak Bay], Tyonek [on the other side of Cook Inlet],
and Hope. He relayed that at the time the KPB assenbly
considered an election ordinance regarding vote-by-mail,
financial analysis indicated that conducting a borough-w de
vote-by-mail would be nore expensive; the cost of printing was
the issue. He said that Ms. Bl ankenship relayed to himthat the
printers have upgraded their equipnent and the costs would be
substantially less. He nentioned that she is certain that vote-
by-mai |l would increase voter participation dramatically.

3:41: 46 PM
REPRESENTATI VE JOHANSON comment ed that WMatanuska- Susitna (Mat- Su)
Borough also attenpted to schedule all the elections for a
single day; however, shared voting rmachines and other
conplications prevented it. She opined that it seens like a
good i dea.
3:42:12 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 8- March 30, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE WOCOL suggested that one machine could read one
ball ot and the conputer could "solve it all in the end."

M5. MOSER nmentioned that her office has identified sone
chall enges with the AccuVote [Optical Scan] system borrowed from
the State of Al aska. She expressed appreciation for all the 122
polling locations across Anchorage, including recreation
centers, schools, and churches. She said that each year there
are scheduling conflicts that prevent sone |ocations being used,
and this presents challenges for her office. She conceded t hat
nmoving to vote-by-mail would be a big transition, but her staff
is beginning to recognize there are other challenges beside the
three she initially naned, which could possibly be addressed
t hrough vote-by-mail .

M5. JONES offered to provide additional information upon request
and invited commttee nenbers to join the stakeholders group
[ established by the Municipal Cerk's Ofice].

HB 181- LEG SLATURE PER DI EM AND TRAVEL ALLOWANCE

3:45:10 PM

CHAI R KREI SS- TOWI NS announced that the final order of business
woul d be HOUSE BILL NO 181, "An Act relating to per diem for
legislators; relating to a travel allowance for |egislators and
| egislative enployees; and relating to the State Oficers
Conpensati on Comm ssion." [Before the commttee, adopted as a
work draft on 3/28/17, was the proposed committee substitute
(CS) for HB 181, Version 30-LS0717\J, Gar dner, 3/ 28/ 17,
hereafter referred to as Version J.]

3:45:47 PM

BERETT WLBER, Staff, Representative Jonathan Kreiss-Tonkins,
Al aska State Legislature, on behalf of Representative Kreiss-
Tonkins, prime sponsor of HB 181, referred to the emil,
included in the commttee packet, stating answers to questions
that were posed in the House State Affairs Standing Conmittee
nmeeti ng of 3/28/17.

M5. WLBER relayed question 1: "How does the State Oficer's
Conmpensati on Commi ssion (SOCC) recomrendation process work, and
what does the SOCC consider?" She nentioned that Kate Sheehan
[Director, Division of Personnel and Labor Relations (DPLR),
Department of Administration (DOA)] relayed during the 3/28/17

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -9- March 30, 2017



committee neeting that the SOCC systematically considers each
group for which it is charged with nmaking recomrendations at its
nmeet i ngs: t he gover nor and t he | i eut enant gover nor;
| egi slators; and departnment comr ssioners. After considering
each position or group of positions, it decides whether to make
recomrendations. She indicated that in the event it chooses not
to make reconmmendations, it sends a letter stating that it has
chosen not to nake reconmmendations to change salaries or
conpensati on. She said that all the information - including
m nutes of the SOCC hearings, public testinony, and SOCC reports
- can be found on the SOCC website and is accessible through a
link on the Alaska State Legislature's Bill Action & Status
I nquiry System (BASIS).

M5. WLBER stated question 2: "If SOCC currently has |ega
authority to set legislative per diem why does the Legislative
Council Joint Conmttee (Legislative Council) still set the
policy?" She explained that in 2009 - a year after the SOCC had
been formally established - it issued its first set of
recommendat i ons. The SOCC recommended that Legislative Counci

should continue to set noving expenses and per diem allowances
for legislators in addition to salary increases for |egislators

and conmm ssi oners. She stated that since the I|egislature took
no action to reject those reconmmendati ons, they were adopted "as
[ aw. " She added that AS 24.10.130(c) requires Legislative
Council to set a per diem policy for legislators in accordance
wi th whatever the SOCC recomrends. Since the SOCC recomrended
that Legislative Council continue to set |egislative per diem
Legislative Council, following the letter of the Ilaw, has

continued to do so.
3:49: 15 PM

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL asked for clarification on the answer to
guestion 2. He stated his understanding that f or mer
Representative M ke Doogan intended the SOCC to set per diem
the SOCC was tasked with setting per diem the recommendati on by
the SOCC was that Legislative Council continue to set per diem
therefore, Legislative Council agreed to continue to set per
di em

VS. WLBER responded that under t he 2008 authori zi ng
| egi sl ation, the SOCC was required to set policies on
al | ownances, benefits, and salary. She relayed that per diem
falls under those policies; however, there was no specific
mandate that the SOCC set a rate of per diem She added that it

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 10- March 30, 2017



was fully within the authority of the SOCC to ask Legislative
Council to continue to recomend per diemrates.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL referred to the statutes and commented that
the direction regarding establishing per diem "seenmed kind of
circular." He suggested that the SOCC could set per diem
transmt it in a reconmendation, and it woul d be acceptabl e.

MS. W LBER answered yes.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL asked what the necessity is for the proposed
| egi slation; the SOCC already has the authority to set per diem
even though it hasn't chosen to do so.

M5. WLBER replied, "That is true." She said the SOCC currently
has the authority to set legislative per diem it has chosen to
pass that task on to Legislative Council. She offered that
under Version J, the SOCC would be required to recommend per
diem and Legislative Council no |onger would have the authority
to set a policy in accordance with the SOCC s recommendati ons.
The policy for per diem would be that which was recommended by
t he SOCC.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL asked if wunder Version J, the SOCC would
have to set the per diem - a definitive actual dollar anpbunt -
and not be allowed to defer to Legislative Council for the per
di em r ecommendat i on.

M5. WLBER responded that Representative Wol's assessnent was
not quite correct. She stated that the SOCC does not have to
set a precise nunerical rate for per diem under Version J; it
woul d be responsible for setting the policy. She relayed a
hypot heti cal exanpl e: the SOCC recommends that the per diem
rate be 200 percent of the federal per diem rate. She
reiterated that it does not have to set a precise nunerical
rate.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL offered his understanding that under Version
J, the SOCC could not, as policy, recomend that sonme other
entity recormmend a per diemrate.

M5. WLBER replied that Version J states that I|egislators may
receive per diem allowance during the legislative sessions as
recommended by the SOCC She said that the nechanism that
legally allowed Legislative Council to set policy in accordance
with what the SOCC recommended would be taken out of statute
under Version J. She referred to page 1, |line 14, of Version J

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -11- March 30, 2017



and pointed out that the proposed legislation deletes an
applicable per diem allowance policy" from the section allow ng
Legi slative Council to set policy in accordance with what the
SOCC reconmends. She nentioned that she would get a |egal
opinion on this point; however, she offered her understanding
that Legislative Council's authority to set per diem does not
exi st under Version J.

3:55:44 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP paraphrased from the answer to question 2
regarding legal authority to set per diem which read as foll ows
[original punctuation provided]:

The SOCC s recommendat i ons, al ong W th sal ary
increases for legislators and comm ssions, included
the follow ng instructions:

Session  per di em travel expenses, novi ng
al l omances, and office expense accounts shall not
be considered conpensation. (AS 24.10.100.)

The Legislative Council shall set the anmount and
rules governing noving expense and per diem
al  owances. (AS 24.10.130.)

REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP asked if the SOCC currently has the
authority to set per diem since the SOCC is a conpensation
comm ssion and the statute clearly says per diem is not
conpensat i on.

M5. WLBER expl ained that the |anguage that Representative Knopp
cited is from the 2009 reconmmendation of the SOCC, not state
statute. She said that AS 24.10.130 does not specifically say
that "Legislative Council shall set the anobunt and rules
governing noving expenses and per diem allowances"; the SOCC
cites AS 24.10.130 as the authority wunder which Legislative
Counci|l can continue to do so.

3:58:10 PM

REPRESENTATI VE = WOOL r epeat ed t he first sent ence under
"instructions" [in the answer to question 2 in the e-mil],

which read [original punctuation provided]: "Session per diem
travel expenses, noving allowances, and office expense accounts
shall not be considered conpensation. (AS 24.10.100.)" He

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -12- March 30, 2017



suggested that the inplication is that the |anguage i mmedi ately
preceding the reference is included in that statute.

M5. W LBER apol ogi zed for the lack of clarity. She stated that
the SOCC included a reference to AS 24.10.100 within its policy
recommendations; the sentence before it does not refer to the
statutory | anguage of AS 24.10.100, which read:

Sec. 24.10.100. Salary of |egislators.

Legislators shall receive a nonthly salary under AS
39.23. The president of the senate and the speaker of
the house of representatives nmay receive additional
conpensati on under AS 39.23 during tenure of office.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL asked who nakes the decision that per diem
is not conpensation. He offered his understanding that per diem
is for room and board and not to be considered conpensation even
if it is nore than expenses.

M5. WLBER replied that in her research on this issue, she

di scovered i nconsi stency in "what gr oup deci des what
conpensation is." She deferred the question to Jessica Ceary,
Fi nance Manager, Legislative Admnistrative Services (LAS)

[ Legi slative Affairs Agency (LAA)].

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL restated his question regarding who decided
that per diem is not conpensation? He asked if per diem not
bei ng considered conpensation was for Internal Revenue Service
(I'RS) purposes.

4:01: 06 PM

JESSI CA GEARY, Fi nance Manager, Legislative Admnistrative
Services(LAS), Legislative Affairs Agency(LAA), stated that
there are tw ways to |ook at conpensation: t axabl e
conpensati on and untaxabl e conpensation. She said that per diem
is a reinbursenent of expenses; the |IRS states that if the
amount does not exceed the maxi mum federal rate, one does not
have to pay taxes on that per diem and it is deened
"substantiated." She stated that is the rule the agency
follows; the Alaska Society of Certified Public Accountants
(ASCPA) prepares a legislator tax guide each year, which reviews
the rates and other issues. She reiterated that per diem is
rei nbursenent for expenses.

4:02:17 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 13- March 30, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON expressed her understanding that the
federal government has decl ared per di em non-taxabl e.

MS. CGEARY responded that there is a special section of IRS code,
which is 162(h), that applies specifically to state |egislators.
She said that it covers different circunstances; |egislators
participating in a legislative session can receive per diem
al l omance up to the maxi mum federal rate for every day that the
| egislature is in session.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON asked for clarification that the anount
up to the federal rate is non-taxabl e.

M5. CEARY replied that is correct as long as the maxi num f eder al
rate i s not exceeded.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON asked if per diem is referred to as
conpensation if it is taxable. She added, "... but maybe it's
just a matter of semantics.”

M5. CEARY answered that's accurate. She said in one case it is
considered reinbursenent; in another it is considered incone.
She added that even if you are taxed on the amount, it 1is
rei nbursenent for expenses. She offered that if a per diemrate
exceeding the federal rate was authorized, part would be
rei nmbursenent and the excess would be inconme; to the legislators
it is still referred to as "session per diem"

4:04: 00 PM

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL asked if legislators have always received
100 percent of federal per diem

M5. GEARY replied that they have received the maxi mum federa
rate since 1994, when the federal rate was established.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL nentioned the different situation of the
Juneau | egislators: they get per diem but it is taxed; and
they do not receive housing reinbursenent. He asked if their
per diemis not considered conpensation.

M5. GEARY responded that it depends on how it is viewed. She
said it is conpensation, because it is taxed; however, it is
al so session per diem

4:05:35 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -14- March 30, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP restated that any anount over the federa
maxi mum rate is taxable, and legislators currently receive the
federal rate while the legislature is in session. He said the
federal rate is conprised of the short-termrate for 30 days or
less and the long-termrate for 31 days to 180 days. He stated
that legislators are receiving the short-term rate, even when
they exceed 30 days. He asked if the difference between the
short-termrate, which is $275, and the long-termrate, which is
about $206, is taxable incone.

M5. CGEARY explained that the long-term rate established by the
federal governnment in Novenber 2014 applies to those traveling
under the federal travel policy. She nentioned that the federal
government has strict rules in its travel policy, which the
| egislators are not required to follow, Alaska's legislators are
not required to use the federal long-termrates. She concl uded
by saying that if the |legislative per diem rate does not exceed

the federal nmaxi mum per diemrate, it will not be taxed.
4.:07:43 PM
M5. WLBER continued by stating question 3: "How does per diem

work for State of Al aska (SOA) executive branch enpl oyees?" She
relayed that SOA enployees have different per diem rates than
| egislators and | egislative enployees; the rates are set by the
commi ssioner of the Departnent of Admnistration (DOA) or by

col | ective bargaining. She referred to additional docunents
further detailing SOA enployee per diem rates, which can be
accessed digitally through the links on the e-nmail: "State
travel office"; "one-pager on the SOA rates"; and "Al aska

Adm ni strative Manual section on travel."

4:09: 24 PM
M5. WLBER relayed question 4: "How does taxation on per diem
rates work?" She nentioned that the IRS allows I|egislators

whose permanent residences are greater than 50 mles from the
state capitol to receive up to the federal nmaximum rate of per
diem without being taxed on it. She said Alaska's policy is
that legislators who reside within the 50 nles receive 75
percent of the federal per diemrate, and the noney they receive
IS subject to taxation by the IRS.

4:10: 11 PM

M5. WLBER stated question b5: "What kind of per diem do
| egislative staff receive?" She said that |egislative staff are

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -15- March 30, 2017



eligible to receive per diem when they are traveling for work;
they do not receive a "session per diem as do legislators; and
they are entitled to reinbursenent for |odging, neals, and
travel when they are traveling to the state capital or returning
to their places of residence after the session. She cited the
2006 Al aska Suprene Court case, Benavides v. State, which
definitively determ ned that |egislative aides would not receive
session per diemat the sane rate as |legislators.

M5. WLBER relayed question 6: "How does the pay for
| egislative staffers conpare with the pay in the other branches
of [state] governnent?" She nentioned that this question was

about Representative Wol's suggestion during the 3/28/ 17 House
State Affairs Standing Commttee neeting that salaries for
| egislative staff are adjusted and therefore do not match the
salaries for simlar positions in other branches of governnent.
She relayed that in consulting with Ms. Geary, she |earned that
positions in the different branches are not necessarily
conpar abl e. Ms. Geary explained that political staffers are
paid at a rate two or four ranges higher [than a conparable
executive branch enployee] to conpensate them for not receiving
overtinme pay or per diem and because their positions tend to be
nore "volatile" than non-political positions.

4:12:41 PM

REPRESENTATIVE BIRCH expressed his appreciation for t he
i nformati on presented.

REPRESENTATI VE WOCOL concurred. He asked for the nunber of
states in which the legislators decide their own salaries
t hrough | egi sl ati on.

M5. WLBER replied that she did not know but would provide that
i nformati on.

4:13:56 PM

REPRESENTATI VE  JOHNSON  asked  what year the legislature
transitioned froman all-year session to a 120-day session.

M5. WLBER responded that she did not know the history of the
I ength of the |legislative session in Al aska.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL expressed his belief that in 2006, a |aw was

passed to reduce the session from 120 days to 90 days; however,
the Al aska Constitution [allows for the 120 days].

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 16- March 30, 2017



4:15: 05 PM

REPRESENTATIVE BIRCH referred to the increase in legislative
salaries from $24,000 to [$50,400] in 2006. He said that prior
to that, legislators were pro-rating interim per diem when the
salary was increased, interimper diemwas elimnated.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL stated that Representative Birch's conmments
refer to changes in salary and per diem structures. He
suggested that there was a change in the Al aska Constitution
maki ng the session 120 days. He nentioned a tinme well in the
past in which session was "open-ended" and lasted well into the
sunmmer .

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON recol lected there being long |egislative
sessions when she was a child, and there were breaks. She said
that at some point, session was reduced to 120 days, then to 90
days. She offered that she was trying to find a correlation
between the length of the session and the per diem and sal ary
rates. She noted that from 1983 to 1987, the legislative salary
was $3,900 per nonth, but she has no information on the rate of
per diemat that tine.

4:17: 30 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP expressed his appreciation for t he
| egislative history presented in the packet. He referred
Representative Johnson to the information in the packet
reflecting the Juneau and non-Juneau |egislative rates and the
Legi sl ative Council rate adjustnents.

M5. WLBER stated that the docunment entitled "Session and
Interim Per Diem Hi story" was provided by the LAA staff. She
al so pointed out that the Interim per diem and the salary rai se,
which was discussed, occurred in 2009 with the first set of
recomendati ons fromthe SOCC.

4:19: 43 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP stated that he does not support the
proposed | egislation. He offered that the issue being addressed
by HB 181 is: Is it appropriate for Legislative Council -
menbers of the legislative bodies - to set per diem rates for
| egislators? He said that Legislative Council neets about every
two years, and the federal governnent has adjusted conpensation
rates three times in the last 15 nonths. He pointed out the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -17- March 30, 2017



many tinmes Legislative Council has adjusted |egislative per diem
rates to react to the federal governnment's actions. He
suggested that the anount of work necessary for Legislative
Council to set the rates is "incredible"; he is concerned wth
the SOCC arbitrarily setting the rates; and he nentioned the
extensive work by the federal governnent to determ ne the rates.
He stated that he preferred that the long-term federal rate be
adopted and woul d support a concurrent resolution by both bodies
to do so.

M5. WLBER responded that every year since its inception in 2009
the SOCC has issued either recomrendations or transmittals that
there would be no recomendations, excluding 2010. She
mentioned that Legislative Council set legislative per diem at
the federal rate in 1994, and it does not do any additional work
when the rate changes. The LAA accounting staff makes the
adj ust nent .

REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP conceded that the additional work would be
performed by LAA staff; however, in using the federal rate, the
wor k al ready woul d have been done. He expressed his belief that
it would be difficult for the SOCC to determine the per diem
rate and said that he suspects the SOCC would use the federa

rate to set per diem He opined that the short-term rate is
"over the top" and the long-termrate would be nore appropriate
compensat i on.

4:25: 50 PM

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL said that he concurred with Representative
Knopp. He suggested that using the maxi num federal rate of per
di em has been easy to calculate and set. He nentioned that the
SOCC has net alnost annually; it has nade recomendati ons on
sal aries, excluding those of the |legislators, which has not
changed since 2008; and it has statutory authority to nmake

recomendati ons, but has deferred to Legislative Council. He
stated that the proposed |egislation would nmandate that the SOCC
set the rate instead of Legislative Council. He offered that

the effect of the proposed |egislation would be slight and said
he is "okay with the status quo as long as it doesn't get

abri dged. " He said, "I'm not sure it's as broken as people
think, except it gets politicized a |ot. Hopefully, if the
systemis working, it will stay within this franework."

M5. WLBER clarified that under Version J, the SOCC would not be
required to select the anount of per diem it would be required
to set the policy. She offered that the SOCC could choose to

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 18- March 30, 2017



set a flexible scale, like the fluctuating federal per diem
they could choose to stay with the federal per diem rate; they
could choose to use the short-termrate; or they could choose to

use the long-term rate - 75 per cent of the federal per diem
rate. She stated that the benefit of requiring the SOCC to set
the per diem rate, as opposed to Legislative Council, is that
doing so "takes the decision out of the political realm"™ She
added that even though it my be easy to have Legislative
Council set per diem policy, it inherently politicizes the

i ssue; having an apolitical body, such as the SOCC, set per diem
woul d renove the politicization

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL expressed his understanding that the
proposed legislation would not renove politicization, because

the legislature nmust introduce a bill within a certain period to
adj ust the recomendati on. Once the bill is introduced, the
i ssue becones political. He opined that renoving the politica

aspect of the process is inpossible. He suggested that in nore
than half of states, the legislature is involved in setting
conpensati on.

M5. WLBER clarified that currently and under the proposed
| egi sl ation, t he | egi sl ature cannot adj ust t he SOCC s
recommendations; it can only reject themthrough |egislation.

4:31:30 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP asked if setting a policy through a joint
resol ution would de-politicize the issue.

CHAI R KREI SS- TOWKINS commented that the House does "weigh in"
t hrough an operating budget floor anmendnent. He opined that a
joint resolution has nerit.

M5. WLBER responded that she does not know which process would
be less political, but she opined that passing |egislation of
any type is inherently political. She offered that the
advantage of the SOCC is that it is not conprised of
| egi slators, but of civilians wwth no political futures.

4:33:07 PM

REPRESENTATI VE TUCK referred to [Section 5] of the proposed
| egi sl ation, which read as foll ows:

It is the policy of the legislature that the
conm ssion recommend an equitable rate and form of

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -19- March 30, 2017



conpensation, per diem allowances during |egislative
sessi ons, benefits, and ot her al | owances for
| egi sl ators.

REPRESENTATI VE TUCK asked if his understanding is correct: The
authority still lies with the |legislature, as the recommendati on
conmes through the |egislature. In 2009, the recommendati on was
adopted because of the legislature not disapproving it. Under
the proposed legislation, the legislature still can disapprove
it would not lose its authority; and the SOCC would nmeke its
recomendat i ons, which  woul d becone policy unl ess t he
Legi sl ature di sapproves.

M5. WLBER said, "Yes, that is correct." She added that the
proposed | egislation would not change the mechani sm by which the
SOCC makes recommendations; it nerely would add per diemto the
list of itenms that it nust recomend. She said the |egislators'
ability to reject the recomendations or allow them to be
adopted through no action would remain unchanged under Version
J.

REPRESENTATI VE TUCK commented that he supports the proposed
| egi sl ation. He stated that the SOCC has performed well in the
past in setting conpensation. He expressed his belief that the
SOCC s recomendation puts the public at ease, especially in the

event of salary, per diem or benefit increases; it provides
"cover" for the legislature; it is made up of public nenbers;
and legislators are permtted to testify to the SOCC. He

reiterated that the proposed legislation represents a good
publ i c process.

4:36:12 PM

CHAI R KREI SS- TOWKI NS opened public testinony on HB 181. After
ascertaining that there was no one who w shed to testify, he
cl osed public testinony.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL asked why the SOCC has not reconmended a
salary increase for legislators since 2008.

4:37:19 PM

KATE SHEEHAN, Di rector, Division of Personnel and Labor
Rel ati ons (DPLR), Departnment of Admnistration (DOA), inforned
the commttee that she serves as secretary to the SOCC. She
answered that SOCC s discussion about conpensation has varied
fromnmeeting to neeting. She said that when the SOCC decided to

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 20- March 30, 2017



take no action, it was due to budget constraints. She stated
that in the |ast neeting, the SOCC s only reconmendati on was to
allow a deputy comm ssioner to keep his/her salary in the event
he/ she became commi ssioner at a |ower salary. She rel ayed that
in the nmeeting before the last, the SOCC recommended i ncreases
to the governor's, |lieutenant governor's, and comm ssioners

salaries; it consulted the Consuner Price Index (CPlI) and
geographic differentials for conmm ssioners. She said that
former Governor Sean Parnell stated that he would decline a pay
i ncrease for hi nsel f but supported t he i ncrease for
conmi ssi oners. Ms. Sheehan added that the |egislature rejected
t he SOCC recomrendati ons that year.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL asked if the recomendations M. Sheehan
related were the only reconmendati ons the SOCC has nmde since
its inception.

M5. SHEEHAN replied that she would have to review prior neeting
[ M nut es], but she confirnmed that there has been no
recommendat i on on | egi sl ator sal ari es after t he 2009
recomrendat i on.

REPRESENTATI VE WOOL comented that there may be sone expectation
that a legislator's job is "not about the noney"” but is public

servi ce. He said for a professional in the executive branch
the position is considered a fulltinme career. He suggested that
cost of Iliving, inflation, and CPI should be considered

regardi ng | egislator salaries.

M5. SHEEHAN rel ayed that in the |last [SOCC] neeting, nost of the
di scussion was concerning the state budget situation. She
menti oned that she would have to review the mnutes of prior
neetings to be able to report on the discussions that took
pl ace.

4:40: 21 PM

REPRESENTATI VE TUCK asked when the |last wage increase for
| egi slators was prior to 2009. He suggested that it had been a
long tine since any wage increase before that year.

MS. SHEEHAN replied that she did not recall.

M5. WLBER answered that she also did not have that information

4:41:47 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -21- March 30, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX noved to report CSHB 181, Version 30-
LSO0717\J, Gardner, 3/28/17, out of commttee wth individual
recommendati ons and t he acconpanying zero fiscal note.

REPRESENTATI VE KNOPP obj ect ed.
4:42:10 PM

A roll call vote was taken. Representatives Tuck, LeDoux,
Johnson, and Kreiss-Tonkins voted in favor of noving CSHB 181,
Version 30-LS0717\J, Gardner, 3/28/17, out of conmttee wth
i ndi vidual recomendations and the acconpanying zero fiscal
not e. Representatives Knopp and Wol voted against it.
Therefore, CSHB 181(STA) was reported out of the House State
Affairs Standing Conmttee by a vote of 4-2.

4. 43: 27 PM
ADJ QURNVENT
There being no further business before the commttee, the House

State Affairs Standing Committee neeting was adjourned at 4:43
p. m

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -22- March 30, 2017



